
 

The London Organising Committee of the 
Olympic Games and Paralympic Games Limited
Report and accounts for the 6 month period ended 31 March 2013

London 2012

Report and 

accounts
6 month period ended 31 3 2013





Contents

Contents Subhead 0
Contents Body 0

Contents Body 0

Contents Body 0

Contents Body 0

Contents Subhead 0
Contents Body 0

Contents Body 0

Contents Subhead 0
Contents Body 0

Contents Body 0

Contents Body 0

Contents Body 0

Contents Body 0

Contents Body 0

Contents

Chairman’s statement       6

Officers and professional advisers     8

Directors’ report       10

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 24

Independent auditors’ report     27

Financial statements       32

Notes to the financial statements     35



4 The London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games and Paralympic Games Limited 

‘Our simple vision to use the Games as a catalyst for 
change has touched and transformed the lives and  
communities of millions of people across London, the  
UK and around the world.’

Lord Coe 
Chair, London 2012 Organising Committee (LOCOG) 
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As we approach the first anniversary of the Games, I look 
back with great pride at what we have achieved. Not 
only did we deliver a summer of unforgettable sport but 
we also captured the hearts and minds of the nation who 
helped to make 2012 a year to remember.

People up and down the country embraced the magic 
of the Games and used creative, fun and inspiring ways 
to join in. Whether it was volunteering their time as one 
of 70,000 Games Makers, being part of the 15 million 
who lined the streets for the Torch Relays, attending one 
of the 12,000 Festival events or cheering on the amazing 
performances of world class athletes, everyone wanted to 
be part of this extraordinary UK event.

In the past six months since the previous report, the 
small team of people that remain within the Organising 
Committee have been working hard to meet the necessary 
steps in the dissolution process, which has been one of 
the quickest ever for an Organising Committee.  We have 
secured a long-term future for the London 2012 database 
with Sport England, who will work together with UK Sport 
and London & Partners to help build the strongest possible 
sporting, cultural and volunteering legacy. 

The thousands of assets that we procured to stage the 
Games have either been sold or, where possible, gifted to 
other organisations such as schools, charities, sports and 
community clubs.  This included the sale and auction of 
thousands of items to Games volunteers and members of 
the public, to give them the opportunity to own a unique 
piece of London 2012 such as costumes and props from 
the four ceremonies, duvets from the athletes village and 
banners from the venues. 

Thanks to all this hard work and the strong management 
of our core finances over the seven year period, the 
company has been successful in achieving revenues of 
£2.41billion whilst containing costs at £2.38billion. As 
a result I am delighted that the final contractual condition 
has been met allowing us to pay £5.3m to the British 
Olympic Association (BOA) and £2.6m to the British 
Paralympic Association (BPA) under their respective Joint 
Marketing Programme Agreements. This will enable  
both organisations to move into their next round of 
Olympic and Paralympic commitments with some 
additional certainty.  

Chairman's statement

Lord Coe 
Chairman
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In addition the Company will pay approximately  
£20 million to the Department for Culture, Media and 
Sport under the terms of our grant agreement, bringing 
the final financial position of the Company over the 
lifetime of the project to breakeven. I am also pleased to 
report that we have managed grant funded activities in 
an equally careful manner and have been able to confirm 
that £190m of grant funding set aside by Government for 
LOCOG will not have been required.

As part of an agreement with the National Lottery, I am 
proud to announce that a further £1.3 million will be 
made available for the benefit of sport in the UK. 

Over its lifetime, LOCOG has also donated £7.4m to UK 
Sport from the Team 2012 joint venture. 

Following the directors' declaration of solvency, the 
members of LOCOG (the British Olympic Association, the 
Mayor of London and the Department of Culture, Media 
and Sport) will proceed to place the Company into a 
solvent Members Voluntary Liquidation.

One of our aims was to raise the status of sport on 
the national agenda and re-establish its importance 
in the lives of young people. We are pleased that the 
Government has committed £150m for primary schools 
to improve the quality of their sports provision, and that 

the BOA and BPA will continue the good work of the 
Get Set education programme. This will help to secure 
a lasting legacy for the Games and help to continue our 
promise to inspire a generation.   

On behalf of the Board, I would like thank everyone who 
has been with us on this journey and contributed to what 
I believe was the greatest festival of sport ever presented 
in this country.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lord Coe  
Chairman 
The London Organising Committee of the Olympic 
Games and Paralympic Games Limited

‘Our simple vision to use the Games as a catalyst for 
change has touched and transformed the lives and com-
munities of millions of people across London, the UK and 
around the world.’

Seb Coe 
Chair, London 2012 Organising Committee (LOCOG) 
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Principal activities
The London Organising Committee of the Olympic 
Games and Paralympic Games Limited ('the Company', 
‘LOCOG’) is responsible for the planning, funding, 
preparation and staging of the 2012 Olympic Games 
and Paralympic Games.

Business review and future developments
The Company has always had the intention of operating 
for as limited a period of time as possible. Now that its 
purpose of staging the Games has been completed, the 
Directors have been focussed on dissolving the Company 
in an orderly and solvent manner.  

The Dissolution Committee was established in the prior 
period with the responsibility for development and 
implementation of strategy, processes and procedures 
during the dissolution period and is recognised as the 
one remaining core management committee.  Dissolution 
work-streams reporting into the committee includes 
Venues de-commissioning and operations wind down, 
Legal, Finance and Commercial, Human Resources and 
Communications.  Contract close out, venues handover, 
dispute resolution, asset disposal and information 
archiving have been the key activities within these 
work streams.   This committee is chaired by the Chief 
Financial Officer, comprises the remaining departmental 
directors and progress is regularly reviewed by the 
Audit, Remuneration and Dissolution Committee of  
the Board. 

The objectives for the dissolution of the Company were 
to maximise income from the disposal of assets and 
collection of revenue, minimise remaining costs and fulfil 

the bid commitments.  Management established a 
dedicated programme team to implement Dissolution 
plans and adapted the organisation structure and 
corporate governance to enable the Company to 
achieve these aims.

The Board of Directors consider that the Company has 
achieved all the aims for the dissolution period and plans 
have been successfully implemented during the period; 
operations have been wound down, significant contracts 
settled, all venues handed over to legacy owners or 
back to lease holders, all assets sold or donated and 
all information archived appropriately. Following a 
declaration of solvency, the members of LOCOG (the 
British Olympic Association, the Mayor of London and 
the Department for Culture, Media and Sport) will, on or 
about 30 May 2013 place the Company into a solvent 
Members Voluntary Liquidation.

Directors report

85%
of UK schools and colleges took part in 
London 2012-related activity through Get Set 

99
National Olympic and Paralympic 
Committees around the world formed 
partnerships with UK schools through the 
Get Set goes global programme 
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Neil Wood MBE 
Chief Financial Officer
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Board of Directors
The composition of the Board of Directors is stated on 
page 8. The Board met once during the period and 
once more following the period end.

During the period, Andrew Hunt and Lord Moynihan 
resigned as ex-officio Directors of the Company by 
virtue of their resignations as CEO and Chairman, 
respectively, of the British Olympic Association.

Paul Deighton’s contract of employment as Chief 
Executive ceased on 31 December 2012 and he 
therefore resigned as a Director on this date. After 
consultation with the Board of Directors, it was 
agreed that no CEO would be appointed to succeed 
him and that the senior management team acting 
through the Dissolution Committee and reporting 
to Lord Coe, as Chairman, would be responsible 
for managing the company during the remaining 
dissolution period.      

Upon appointment of liquidators the LOCOG Board 
will cease to be empowered to act as Directors of the 
Company and therefore all the Directors will formally 
resign with effect from the date of the appointment.  

 

Audit, Remuneration and Dissolution 
Committee
Following the final meeting of the Remuneration 
Committee on 3 October 2012, the Audit Committee 
became the only committee of the Board and was 
renamed the Audit, Remuneration and Dissolution (ARD) 
Committee with enhanced terms as summarised below.

The primary duties of the ARD Committee are to monitor 
and review the Company’s financial reporting, internal 
controls and risk management, internal audit and 
external audit matters.  It is also responsible for reviewing 
the Company’s arrangements for its employees to raise 
concerns, in confidence, about possible misconduct in 
financial reporting or other matters.

In March 2012, the Board approved an enhancement 
to the Committee’s role to expand its remit to cover any 
remuneration matters arising after the final meeting of the 
Remuneration Committee and to oversee the Company’s 
dissolution.  In June 2012, the Board additionally 
delegated authority to the Committee to approve all 
significant financial transactions beyond a stated 
threshold where expenditures went beyond approved 
budget or anticipated final cost (AFC) amounts.

The members of the ARD Committee are Martin Stewart 
(Chair), Sir Keith Mills, Justin King, Stephen Lovegrove, 
Sir Craig Reedie and Sir Charles Allen. The Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO) and General Counsel (as 
secretary to the Committee) attended every meeting.  

The ARD Committee met four times during the period 
and twice more following the period end prior to the 
liquidation of the Company.      

1,200+
unique sporting and cultural initiatives 
took place across the UK in July 2011 
during the biggest-ever London 2012  
Open Weekend, an annual event 
marking the countdown to the Games 

10 million
opportunities were available to see 
1,000 performances and events 
during the London 2012 Festival 
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Financial review
The Company has continued to manage the anticipated 
final cost (AFC) and anticipated final revenue (AFR) 
during the period under the direction of the CFO. The 
AFC and AFR highlighted potential budget pressures 
which were reviewed and monitored by senior 
management, through the Dissolution Committee, and 
the ARD Committee to mitigate and control the risks of 
cost overrun and revenue shortfall.  

As a result, lifetime core revenue of the Company has 
achieved the target of £2,410.5m whilst lifetime core 
expenditure amounted to £2,832.6m. This does not 
include grant income received from Governmental 
bodies for additional (non-core) scope encompassing 
activities the Government identified that LOCOG  
was best placed to deliver. 

Given the existence of excess lifetime revenue over 
expenditure, LOCOG will fulfil its contractual obligations 
to the BOA and BPA pursuant to Joint Marketing 
Programme Agreements signed with each party in 
2005, to pay £5.3m ($8m) to the BOA and £2.6m 
($4m) to the BPA being the maximum amount due as a 
conditional liability under each agreement. 

The Company will use the remaining excess of revenue 
over expenditure to fulfil commitments under certain 

government grant agreements to pay approximately 
£20m to the DCMS (see note 27). 

Furthermore, the Company will make available for the 
benefit of sport in the UK, £1.3m received as royalties 
from the National Lottery having not required the 
amounts received for the operation of the Games. 

As a result of making the above payments, the lifetime 
financial position of the project as per the final audited 
financial statements is break-even. The results for the 
period show a net profit of £52.8m which matches 
brought forward losses therefore bringing the cumulative 
financial position of the Company to £nil. 

Income recognised in the current period of £81.5m 
relates primarily to deferred income of sponsorship 
contracts received in previous periods which has been 
recognised on a straight line basis up to 31 December 
2012 in addition to the receipt of smaller ongoing 
revenue streams. Costs recognised in the period relate  
to ongoing dissolution support costs and settlement of 
final claims. 

Following the period end, the Company has continued 
to wind down the balance sheet and manage cash-flows 
to enable the members to place the Company into a 
solvent liquidation on or about 30 May 2013.

‘The brilliance of the London Games was not all about 
sport. It was about putting the country on display and 
they have done just that.’

Steve Simmons, Toronto Sun, Canada
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Grant funding
LOCOG’s core budget excludes grant income and 
expenditure received in order to cover the cost of activities 
originally beyond the scope of the Company and to fulfil 
the commitments of the Government and the Mayor of 
London under the Host City Contract.  As at 30 September 
2012, the Company had received £842m of public 
funding for work carried out on behalf of the Government, 
in addition to £111m received for the Government’s 
obligation to fund 50% of the incremental costs for the 
Paralympic Games and £36m for costs incurred relating to 
relocation and reconfiguration of venues.  

During the period, LOCOG was granted £23m for costs 
incurred on behalf of the Government plus an additional 
£3m for the Paralympic funding obligation. 

In addition to the proposed £20m payment to DCMS 
noted above, the Company has made significant savings 
against projected funding requirements and therefore has 
not drawn £190m of the grant funding made available as 
follows:   

 – £124m saving on Home Office security grant funding 
including £102m savings announced at the time of 
the settlement of the G4S contract (£39m of which 
relates to pre Games savings previously reported at 
30 September 2012).

 – £17m saving on Government Olympic Executive 
(GOE) grant funding.

 – £19m of pre-Games/Games-time GOE contingency 
not drawn.

 – £30m of post-Games GOE contingency not drawn.  

Following savings in the period and including transfers 
of scope, the total final public sector funding package 
received by LOCOG was £959m. £809m being 
non-core funding for work carried out on behalf of the 
Government and £150m core funding of £114m for 
the Government 50% Paralympic funding obligation 
and £36m for costs incurred relating to relocation and 
reconfiguration of venues.  

£73.0m has been recognised as non-core grant 
income credited to expenditure in the current period in 
accordance with the grant funding accounting policy 
(see note 2). For further information on grant funding 
see note 6 to the financial statements.

 

95%
of people in the UK, the Isle of Man, 
Guernsey and Jersey were within one 
hour of the Flame during the Olympic 
Torch Relay 

8,000
perforations on the body of the 
Olympic Torch represented each of 
the inspirational Torchbearers who 
carried the Flame  

‘The Torch Relay has been absolutely fantastic.  
The enthusiasm and support showed by millions of people 
up and down this country has been overwhelming.  
It has showcased the very best of Britain.’
Rt Hon Jeremy Hunt MP 
then Secretary of State for Culture, Olympics, Media and Sport
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Risk management
The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible 
for the Company’s system of internal control and have 
charged the ARD Committee with carrying out ongoing 
review of the effectiveness of internal controls and risk 
management systems throughout the Dissolution period. 

Focussed internal audit work on the dissolution strategy 
and implementation continued during the course of the 
period with dissolution risk matters overseen by the ARD 
Committee as a standing agenda item at each meeting 
until the Company’s liquidation. The ARD oversaw the 
risk assurance function and Company’s programme and 
risk management reporting, to ensure that detailed risk 
assessment and assurance work was focussed on key 
areas of the business and aligned to identified business 
risk. 

The Dissolution Committee continued as the 
management committee to oversee implementation 
of key policies and internal control strategies for the 
Company. 

The AFC process continued as the key mechanism for 
tracking financial exposure which, during the period, 
was reviewed weekly by the Dissolution Committee and 
a summary provided to the ARD Committee at each of 
its meetings.

The Directors consider that minimal risks and 
uncertainties exist given management’s robust 
dissolution processes including strong contract close out 
controls and effective financial management.

Future outlook and basis of financial  
statements preparation
The lifetime position of the Company is discussed in the 
Financial Review section on page 14.

The entity will be placed by its members into a solvent 
Members Voluntary Liquidation on or about 30 May 
2013.  Therefore, the financial statements have been 
prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern 
which includes, where appropriate, adjusting the entity’s 
assets to a net realisable value. The financial statements 
include provision for all future contractual commitments 
and costs of terminating the business of the entity. 

Directors and their interests
The Directors of the Company who served throughout 
the period are shown in the list of officers and 
professional advisors on page 8. Directors' interests are 
disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements.

Directors’ indemnities
The Company has granted an indemnity to all of its 
Directors against liability in respect of proceedings 
brought by third parties, subject to conditions set out in 
the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third party 
indemnity provision remains in force as at the date of 
approving the Directors’ report.

68%
of viewers felt the coverage of the 
Paralympic Games had a favourable impact 
on their perceptions of disabled sport 

82%
agreed disabled athletes are as 
talented as non-disabled athletes, 
rising to 91% among those who had 
watched Channel 4’s coverage of the 
Paralympic Games 

19The London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games and Paralympic Games Limited 



Research and development
There have been no research and development activities 
during the period (2012: £nil).

Charitable and political donations
During the period the Company made charitable donations 
to UK Sport of £2.9m (2012: £1.5m) and no political 
donations (2012: £nil). LOCOG has donated £7.4m to UK 
Sport over the lifetime of the Company.

Disabled employees
The Company gives full consideration to applications 
for employment from disabled persons where the 
candidates’ particular aptitudes and abilities are consistent 
with adequately meeting the requirements of the job. 
Opportunities are available for disabled employees for 
training, career development and promotion.

Where existing employees become disabled, it is the 
Company’s policy to provide continuing employment 
wherever practicable in the same or an alternative position 
and to provide appropriate training to achieve this aim.

Employee involvement
The Company operates a framework for employee 
information and consultation which complies with the 
requirements of the Information and Consultation of 
Employees Regulations 2005. Regular meetings have been 
held between management and employees to allow free 
flow of information and ideas.

Supplier payment policy and practice
It is the Company’s policy that payments to suppliers are 
made in accordance with those terms and conditions 
agreed between the Company and its suppliers, providing 
that trading terms and conditions have been complied with.

At 31 March 2013, the Company’s purchase obligations 
owed to trade creditors were equivalent to 49 days (30 
September 2012: 50 days) based on the average daily 
amount invoiced by suppliers during the period.

278,000
tickets were sold for Handball – 
a sport which had never sold a 
commercial ticket before in this country 

340,000
‘Ticketshare’ tickets were distributed 
to school students and other good 
causes  

‘London 2012 has raised  
the bar on sustainability, not 
just for future Olympic and  
Paralympic Games but for 
industry, and for the  
organisers of major events 
the world over.’ 
 

Shaun McCarthy. Chair,  
Commission for a Sustainable London 2012
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Horse Guards Parade, surrounded by some 
of London’s most iconic buildings, proved to 
be a memorable venue for Beach Volleyball.
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Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP will cease to be auditors following the 
liquidation of the Company.

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information 
to the auditor

 – The Directors who are members of the Board at the time 
of approving the Directors’ report are disclosed in the 
Officers and professional advisers section on page 8. 
Having made enquiries of fellow Directors and of the 
Company’s auditors, each of these Directors  
confirms that:

 – to the best of each Director’s knowledge and belief, 
there is no information relevant to the preparation of their 
report of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

 – each Director has taken all steps a Director might 
reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware 
of relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted 
in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

On behalf of the Board  
23 May 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Neil Wood 
Chief Financial Officer 
The London Organising Committee of the Olympic 
Games and Paralympic Games Limited

 

‘The London 2012 Olympic Games delivered the biggest national  
television event since current measuring systems began, with 51.1 million 
million (91 per cent of the UK population) watching at least 15 minutes  
of coverage.’
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual 
report and financial statements in accordance with 
applicable United Kingdom law and those International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union.

Under Company law the Directors must not approve the 
Company financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they present fairly the financial position, the 
financial performance and cash flows of the Company 
for that period. In preparing the Company financial 
statements the Directors are required to:

 – select suitable accounting policies in accordance with 
IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors and then apply them consistently;

 – present information, including accounting policies, in 
a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable 
and understandable information;

 – provide additional disclosures when compliance 
with the specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient 
to enable users to understand the impact of 
particular transactions, other events and conditions 
on the Company’s financial position and financial 
performance; and

 – state that the Company has complied with IFRSs, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company, and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 
the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

‘The standing ovation at the Closing Ceremony –  
that was for all you Games Makers.’

Comedian Eddie Izzard,  
who supported the Games Maker programme

Statement of directors’ responsibilities  
in respect of the financial statements

The London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games and Paralympic Games Limited 24



70,000 volunteer Games Makers 
welcomed the world to the Games. The 
volunteers’ charisma, character and 
commitment were recognised by everyone 
who visited London 2012.

The London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games and Paralympic Games Limited 25
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We have audited the financial statements of The 
London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games 
and Paralympic Games Limited for the period ended 
31 March 2013 which comprise the Income and 
Expenditure Account, the Statement of Changes in 
Equity, the Statement of Financial Position, Statement 
of comprehensive income, the Statement of Cash Flows 
and the related notes 1 to 30. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. As 
set out in note 2, these financial statements have been 
prepared on a basis other than that of a  
going concern.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for 
this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors  
and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page 24, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.  
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).  Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

An aerial view of the Olympic Park on 
Day 7 of the Olympic Games.

Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of The London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games 
and Paralympic Games Limited (Limited by guarantee)



Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the directors; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. In 
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Directors’ Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. 
If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

 – give a true and fair view of the state of the 
company’s affairs as at 31 March 2013 and of its 
profit for the period then ended; 

 – have been properly prepared in accordance with 
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

 – have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report 
for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

 – adequate accounting records have not been kept, or 
returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

 – the financial statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or

 – certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

 – we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

 
 
 
 
Michael Rudberg 
(Senior statutory auditor) 
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP,  
Statutory Auditor 
London, 23 May 2013

Independent auditors’ report (continued) 
to the members of The London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games 
and Paralympic Games Limited (Limited by guarantee)
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Dancers perform during the Olympic 
Games Opening Ceremony.

Horse Guards Parade, surrounded by some 
of London’s most iconic buildings, proved to 
be a memorable venue for Beach Volleyball.
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Income and expenditure account
For the 6 month period ended 31 March 2013

  Before fair value     
  adjustment   
  under IAS 39*
  6 months ended
  31 March
  2013   
 Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue from operating activities 3 81,485 81,485 1,868,556 1,868,556

Loss from financial instruments not qualifying 

for hedge accounting 3 – (304) – (14,055)

Total   81,485 81,181 1,868,556 1,854,501 

Operating expenses 4 (28,817) (28,817) (1,896,919) (1,896,919)

Operating profit /(loss) 4 52,668 52,364 (28,363) (42,418)

Finance costs 9 (123) (123) (1,339) (1,339)

Finance revenue 8 594 594 11,205 11,205

Profit /(loss) for the period  53,139 52,835 (18,497) (32,552)

*The fair value adjustments relate to movements in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments that do not 
qualify for hedge accounting (see note 22). 
  

Statement of comprehensive income
For the 6 month period ended 31 March 2013

   
   

Profit/(loss) for the year    52,835 (32,552)

Other comprehensive income:  

(Losses)/gains recognised on cash flow hedges  – (4,085) 

Reclassification to profit and loss   –   11,048

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period   52,835 (25,589)

Statement of changes in equity 
For the 6 month period ended 31 March 2013

    

 

Balance at 31 March 2011  (20,283) (6,963) (27,246)

Net loss for the 18 month period (32,552) – (32,552)

Other comprehensive income:   

(Losses)/gains recognised on cash flow hedges – (4,085) (4,085)

Reclassification to profit and loss – 11,048 11,048

Total comprehensive loss (32,552) 6,963 (25,589)

Balance at 30 September 2012 (52,835) – (52,835)

Net profit for the 6 month period and total comprehensive income 52,835 – 52,835

Balance at 31 March 2013 – – –

6 months  
ended  

31 March  
2013

Before fair value 
adjustment

under IAS 39*
18 months ended

30 September
2012

18 months 
ended

30 September
2012

6 months  
ended  

31 March 2013
£’000

18 months ended
30 September

2012
£’000

Income and 
expenditure reserves 

£’000

Hedging 
reserve 

£’000

Total 
equity 
£’000
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Statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2013

   
 Notes   

Current assets   

Trade and other receivables 14 53,764 496,007

Cash and cash equivalents 15 15,366 17,120

Cash deposits 15 – 205,000

Property, plant and equipment 10 – 321

Intangible assets 11 – 2,570

Financial assets 13 – 1,184

Assets held for sale 10 – 10,753

Total assets  69,130 732,955

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 41,501 630,891

Deferred income 19 – 77,822

Borrowings 18 – 75,000

Provisions 17 27,629 295

Financial liabilities 18 – 1,782

Total liabilities  69,130 785,790

 

Net assets/(liabilities)  – (52,835)

 

Capital and reserves   

Income and expenditure reserve  – (52,835)

Total surplus/(deficit)  – (52,835)
 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 23 May 2013 and were signed on its  
behalf by:
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Neil Wood 
Chief Financial Officer 
Company registration number: 05267819

31 March 
2013 

£’000

30 September 
2012 

£’000
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Statement of cash flows
For the 6 month period ended 31 March 2013

   
 Notes   

Operating activities

Operating profit/(loss)  52,364 (42,418)

Adjustments to reconcile operating profit to net cash flows from operating activities:

Depreciation 10 321 53,867

Write down of assets to net realisable value 10 2,302 –

Amortisation 11 2,570 12,297

Gain on disposal of assets   – (2,466)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 14 442,244 (178,259)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 16 (589,390) 550,345

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 17 27,334 (1,284)

Decrease/(increase) in net financial assets/liabilities 13,18 772 (25,758)

Decrease in deferred income 19 (77,822) (243,165)

Net cash flow from operating activities  (139,305) 123,159

Investing activities

Interest received 8 594 11,205

Proceeds on disposal of assets  8,450 2,466

Receipt of held to maturity investments  15 205,000 70,000

Purchase of held to maturity investments 15 – (205,000)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10 – (53,788)

Acquisition of intangible assets 11 – (1,873)

Net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities  214,044 (176,990)

Financing activities

(Decrease)/increase in borrowings 18 (75,000) 75,000

Proceeds from sale and finance leaseback 20 – 349

Repayment of capital element of finance lease 20 (1,370) (8,165)

Repayment of interest element of finance lease 9 – (651)

Interest paid 9 (123) (688)

Net cash flow (used in)/from financing activities  (76,493) 65,845

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (1,754) 12,014

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 15 17,120 5,106

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 15 15,366 17,120

6 months  
ended  

31 March  
2013

£’000

18 months  
ended

30 September
2012

£’000
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1  Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRSs
The financial statements of The London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games and Paralympic Games 
Limited (‘the Company’) for the 6 month period ended 31 March 2013 were authorised for issue by the Board 
of Directors on 23 May 2013 and the Statement of financial position was signed on the Board’s behalf by Neil 
Wood, the Chief Financial Officer, on 23 May 2013. The London Organising Committee of the Olympic Games 
and Paralympic Games Limited is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in the United 
Kingdom under the Companies Act. The address of the registered office is given on page 8. The Company 
reduced its accounting period to the 6 months ended 31 March 2013 following extension to the 18 months ended 
30 September 2012 in the previous period to avoid impacting the delivery of the Games.

2 Accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union as they apply to the financial statements of the Company for the 6 
month period ended 31 March 2013.

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling being the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Company operates.

As explained in the Directors’ report, the Company will cease trading on or about 30 May 2013 and enter into a 
solvent Members Voluntary Liquidation. The financial statements have, therefore, been prepared on a basis other 
than that of a going concern which includes, where appropriate, adjusting the entity’s assets to net realisable 
value. The financial statements include costs to be incurred subsequent to 31 March 2013 which relate to provision 
for all future contractual commitments and costs of terminating the business of the entity, regardless if costs relate 
to servicing revenue streams.

Derivative financial instruments have been recorded at fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are 
set out below.

b) Accounts presentation
In order to assist in understanding the Company’s financial performance, the effect of movements in the fair value 
of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting have been separately identified.

c) Changes in accounting policy
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous period.

d) Key accounting estimates and judgements 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the end of the reporting period and the amounts 
reported for revenues and expenses during the period. However, the nature of the estimation means the actual 
outcome could differ from those estimates and as a result this would impact the amount payable to DCMS as per  
grant agreements in note 27.

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements 
and estimates, which have the most significant effects on the amounts in the financial statements: 

i) Value in kind (VIK)
VIK is recognised in accordance with the revenue accounting policy given below. Initial revenue recognition is 
based on managements’ judgement that all VIK as detailed within the sponsorship agreement will be fully utilised 
within the terms of the agreement.

Management determine that the fair value of the respective VIK is determined as the price the Company would have 
paid for comparable goods and services. On the inception of each VIK sponsorship agreement, the valuation of 
goods and services to be received are compared to market rate and the fair valuation contractually agreed. Where 
management do not anticipate available VIK will be used, provision has been made within revenue.

Notes to the financial statements
For the 6 month period ended 31 March 2013
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Notes to the financial statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)
ii) Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments
Valuation techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied. For derivative financial instruments, 
assumptions are made based on using market rates for observable market inputs adjusted for specific features 
of the instrument. Details of the assumptions used and of the results of the sensitivity analyses regarding these 
assumptions are provided in note 22. As at 31 March 2013 the Company held no financial instruments.

iii) Joint Marketing Programme Agreements
The Company entered into Joint Marketing Programme Agreements (JMPAs) with the British Olympic Association 
(BOA) and the British Paralympic Association (BPA) to acquire the rights of their trademarks until 31 December 
2012. In return for these rights, the Company was required to transfer a consideration of VIK and cash to 
the BOA and BPA. The consideration was valued at fair value and an intangible asset recognised which was 
amortised over the period of the agreement until 31 December 2012.

iv) Profits/(losses) from financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting
The majority of the Company’s derivative financial instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39 
and hence gains and losses must be taken to the income and expenditure account. Management considers that 
it is most appropriate to classify these as part of the operating result given that the instruments protect the rate at 
which foreign currency revenue is received.

v) Estimates and judgements required for change in basis of preparation in period ended 31 March 2013. 
All assets held by the Company have been written down to net realisable value of £nil. Provision has been made for 
all onerous contracts and the future costs of terminating the business. If the actual outcome differs from the amount 
provided for future costs this would impact the amount payable to DCMS as per grant agreements in note 27.

e) Revenue recognition
Revenue in the forms of both cash and VIK received from sponsors is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, VAT and other sales taxes. 
The following criteria must also be met before revenue will be recognised:

i) Sponsorship income
Revenue in the forms of both cash and VIK, received from sponsorship income has been recognised on a straight-
line basis over the life of the contracted agreement. The specified period of time over which the related services 
were performed was the sponsorship term, as set out in each individual contract. Whilst the supply of certain 
rights was weighted towards Games-time, the benefit that the sponsor received from its association with the 
Company was spread evenly throughout the contract term. Domestic and worldwide sponsorship were accounted 
for in the same manner.

ii) IOC contribution
Revenue was received from the IOC in accordance with an agreed timeline. Due to the performance criteria as 
laid out within the agreement, the revenue could not be recognised until the Games were staged. Revenue has 
been recognised in the previous period on completion of the Games and all required contractual obligations.

iii) Royalty revenue
Royalty revenue agreements include minimum guaranteed amounts receivable from licensed merchandise and 
retail sales. Minimum guaranteed amounts were recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the contract. 
Royalty revenue over and above the minimum guaranteed amount was recognised on an accrual basis in 
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement provided that it was probable that the economic benefits 
would flow to the Company and the amount of revenue could be measured reliably.

iv) Sponsorship hospitality income
Revenue received from sponsorship hospitality agreements was recognised on the basis that the sponsor received 
the rights to sell tickets and hospitality packages. Revenue was recognised on a straight line basis from the date 
of ticket launch over the remainder of the agreements. Hospitality income for Games-time services at the Olympic 
Hospitality Centre was recognised on completion of the Games.
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Notes to the financial statements

2. Accounting policies (continued) 
 e) Revenue recognition (continued)

v) Ticketing income
Revenue received from ticketing sales has been recognised upon the staging of the Games.

vi) Commission income
Revenue received from catering and accommodation sales to client groups through licensed caterers and 
accommodation suppliers was recognised on a net basis when the catering or accommodation was provided to 
the customer. Commissions made on each deal was recognised in revenue.

vii) Rental income
Rental income from operating leases was recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

viii) Grant income
Grants were not recognised until there was reasonable assurance that the Company would comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants would be received. See accounting policy note (t) for further 
description.

ix) Interest income
Interest income was recognised as it accrued on the effective interest rate method.

f) Intangible assets
Intangible assets, including patents and trademarks, are measured initially at cost and are amortised on a straight 
line basis over their estimated useful lives being from purchase to 31 December 2012. The carrying value of 
intangible assets is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate the carrying 
value may not be recoverable and at each end of reporting period. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). The amortisation 
expense on intangible assets is recognised in the income and expenditure account in the operating expenses 
category.

g) Investments in joint venture
A joint venture is an entity over which the Company is in a position to exercise joint control over the financial and 
operating policy decisions of the investee. The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are incorporated 
in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Investments are carried at cost as adjusted 
by post-acquisition changes in the Company’s share of the net assets of the joint venture. Losses of a joint venture 
in excess of the Company’s interest in that joint venture are recognised only to the extent that the Company has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. Under the Team 2012 
joint venture agreement LOCOG does not incur legal or constructive obligations or make payments on behalf of 
the joint venture.

h) Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate 
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. All differences are included in the income and expenditure 
account within administrative expenses. Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the date the transaction 
occurred.

i) Financial instruments
i) Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Company becomes party to the contracts that give rise to them and are 
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; or 
as available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. The Company determines the classification of its financial assets at 
initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial period end.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, being the transaction price plus, 
in the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The 
Company considers whether a contract contains an embedded derivative when the entity first becomes a party 
to it. The embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract if it is not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss and when the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract. 
Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows 
that would otherwise be achieved.



Notes to the financial statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)
i) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition as at fair value through the profit or loss if the following 
criteria are met:
 (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise   
 measuring the assets or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis; or
 (ii) the assets are part of a group of financial assets which are managed and their performance evaluated on  
 a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or
 (iii) the financial asset contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately recorded.

At 31 March 2013 there were no derivatives outstanding

ii) Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Obligations for loans and borrowings are recognised when the Company becomes party to the related contracts 
and are measured initially at the fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of 
liabilities are recognised respectively in finance revenue and finance cost.

iii) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified 
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives, including separate 
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading, unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments. Gains or loss on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the income and expenditure account 
through Gains/losses from financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting.

iv) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset or liability is generally derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, 
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are significantly modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, such 
that the difference in the respective carrying amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in 
income and expenditure.

j) Impairment of financial assets
The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether a financial asset or group of financial assets 
is impaired.

i) Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (ie: the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be 
recognised in administration costs.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the extent that 
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as 
the probability that particular debts will not be recovered) that the Company will not be able to collect all of the 
amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through use 
of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as irrecoverable.

38
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Notes to the financial statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)
j) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

ii) Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at 
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and 
must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

k) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand. 

l) Derivative financial instruments and hedging policy
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and liabilities when the fair value is negative. The 
fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current foreign currency exchange rates for 
contracts with similar maturity profiles.

For those derivatives designated as hedges and for which hedge accounting is desired, the hedging relationship is 
formally designated and documented at its inception. This documentation identifies the risk management objective 
and strategy for undertaking the hedge, the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the 
risk being hedged and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at 
inception to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing 
basis to determine that they have actually been highly effective throughout the reporting period for which they 
were designated.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or hedges of 
a net investment. The Company has only identified cash flow hedges.

Cash flow hedges occur when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction. A hedge of 
the foreign currency risk associated with a firm commitment is also classified as a cash flow hedge.

The treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends 
on the nature of the hedging relationship:
 –  The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in other comprehensive 

income in the hedging reserve, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the profit and loss immediately. 
Amounts taken to the hedging reserve in equity are transferred to the income and expenditure account when 
the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when the income being hedged affects profit and loss.

 –  If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are transferred to profit or loss. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised 
without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income remain in other comprehensive income until the forecast transaction occurs and 
are transferred to the income and expenditure account as above. If the related transaction is not expected to 
occur the amount is taken to profit or loss immediately.
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Notes to the financial statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)
m) Current assets held for sale
Current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and net realisable value. 
Given the basis of preparation of the accounts, all assets held for sale have been classified as current.

Current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sales transaction 
rather than through continuing use. The condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and 
the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale which 
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

n) Property, plant and equipment
Cost comprises the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the 
asset and includes costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended.

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life 
being the shorter of the useful economic life of the asset and as follows:

Fixtures and equipment  –  4 years
Information technology  –  3 years
Vehicles   –  3 years
Leasehold improvements  –  Over the lease term (3–6 years)

The Company expects the useful economic life of all assets purchased to be no longer than the expected life of the 
Company. Assets will be depreciated on a straight line basis to net realisable value prior to disposal.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in 
circumstance indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, and are written down immediately to their 
recoverable amount. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and where adjustments are required 
these are made prospectively.
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or where no future economic benefits are 
expected to rise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the derecognition of the asset is 
included in the income and expenditure account in the period of derecognition. On the completion of the Games, 
all assets with no future use other than sale were written down to net realisable value.

o) Leases
Leases where the lessor retains a significant portion of the risk and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified 
as operating leases and rentals payable are charged in the income and expenditure statement on a straight line 
basis over the lease term. Where there are rent-free periods in a rental lease the benefit of the rent-free period is 
spread equally over the life of the lease.

Assets held under finance leases, which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental 
to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease, with a corresponding liability 
being recognised for the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the reduction of the lease liability and finance charges in 
the income and expenditure statement so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset 
and the lease term.

p) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which generally have a 20 to 30 day term, are recognised and carried at the lower of their 
original invoiced value and recoverable amount. Provision is made where there is objective evidence that the 
Company will not be able to recover balances in full. Balances are written off when the probability of recovery is 
assessed as being remote.
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Notes to the financial statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)
q) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has an obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past or, in 
the current period, future event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risk and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and 
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

r) Pensions
The Company offers a pension contribution of 8 per cent to qualifying employees, which is payable into a Group 
Personal Pension Plan. This plan operates on a defined contribution basis and contributions are recognised in 
the income statement in the period in which they become payable. For employees to be eligible for the pension 
scheme they must make a minimum personal contribution of 2 per cent. From April 2006 the scheme is closed to 
employees who have applied for enhanced pension protection from HM Revenue and Customs.
 
The pension costs represent the contributions payable in respect of the accounting period.

s) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to 
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. The Company 
has not incurred borrowing costs which meet the capitalisation criteria. All other borrowing costs are expensed in 
the period they occur.

t) Grants and funding received
Grants and funding are deferred and recognised over the period necessary to match the costs to which they 
relate. If the funding of the project expands the scope of the Company remit then the grant income is netted off 
against the specific expenses of the project. However, if the funding covers the Company’s core activities then the 
grant income is recognised as revenue. Any grant income that has not been utilised during the financial year is 
held within other creditors at the end of the reporting period date. See note 6 for further detail.

u) Taxation
Due to specific provisions introduced in the 2006 Finance Act, the Company is exempt from corporation tax 
effective from 22 October 2004, the date of incorporation. No current or deferred tax has therefore been 
provided in the Company’s financial statements.

v) Adoption of new and revised standards
Given the Company will enter into a solvent liquidation on or about 30 May 2013, the Directors have made 
the assessment that no new or revised standards under IFRS will have a material impact on these or any future 
financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements

3 Revenue
Revenue recognised in the income and expenditure account is analysed as follows: 
 

   
  
  

Sponsorship income 58,684 412,285

Sponsorship hospitality income 10,241 73,172

Paralympic grant income (see note 6)  3,737 104,138

Team 2012 Ltd License income (see note 12) 2,905 1,500

Royalty income 2,408 61,237

Ticket sales (1,098) 587,294

Other contributions & scope transfers 4,030 120,207

Commissions income 392 10,570

IOC Contribution – 451,252

Rental income – 14,925

Other income 186 31,976

Revenue from operating activities    81,485 1,868,556

Loss from financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting   (304) (14,055)

Total    81,181 1,854,501

 
Sponsorship income includes £15.4m (2012: £98.9m) from IOC worldwide sponsorship and £43.8m (2012: 
£313.4m) from local sponsorship programmes which has been recognised in accordance with the sponsorship 
revenue recognition policy. Revenue has been recognised on a straight-line basis over the lifetime of the 
agreement until all marketing rights ceased on 31 December 2012.

Of the £58.7m Sponsorship revenue recognised in the current period, £28.9m (2012: £240.2m) related to VIK.  
£11.9m (2012: £20.5m) has been provided as a reduction in Sponsorship Revenue in the current period for VIK 
which will not be used by the Company and cannot be converted into cash. 

Sponsorship hospitality income of £10.2m (2012: £73.2m) has been recognised in the current period in 
accordance with the sponsorship hospitality revenue recognition policy, on a straight line basis over the lifetime of 
the agreement until hospitality rights ceased on 31 December 2012.

Other contributions and scope transfers includes £4.0m (2012: £84.2m) received for costs incurred on behalf 
of the ODA and commercial third parties and £nil (2012: £36.1m) from the GOE for additional costs incurred 
relating to the relocation and reconfiguration of venues.

Ticket sales income has reduced by £1.1m in the period following post Games negotiations and settlement of 
contractual client ticket accounts.
 

6 months  
ended

31 March
2013

£’000

18 months  
ended

30 September
2012

£’000
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Notes to the financial statements

4 Operating profit
The profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): 
 
 
 
  
  

Operational expenditure 39,621 1,950,012

Staff costs (note 7)  9,461 177,980

Technology costs 6,551 324,061

Business support costs  4,250 57,488

Donations to UK Sport  2,905 1,501

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 11)  2,570 12,297

Bad debt provision 1,977 –

Rental payments – net of amounts due under license agreement  1,392 11,545

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 10) 321 53,867

Write down of assets to net realisable value 2,302 –

Other costs  2,796 120,252

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (2,466)

Foreign exchange gain (185) (1,330)

Grant and funding credited against expenditure (note 6) (73,021) (808,288)

Conditional liability payable to BOA  5,251 –

Conditional liability  payable to BPA 2,626 –

Conditional liability  payable to DCMS 20,000 –

Total operating expenses 28,817 1,896,919

Operational expenditure during the period primarily relates to costs recognised following the final settlement of 
commercial negotiation with G4S in relation to the contract for the provision of security services for the Games. 
This contract falls under the scope of the Government grant covering venue security, for which income received 
is credited against expenditure and hence the outcome of this negotiation had no net impact on the income or 
expenditure of the Company in the current period.

Donations to UK Sport represent contributions made by LOCOG through funding received from Team 2012 Ltd.

£5.3m ($8m) and £2.6m ($4m) has been provided pursuant to the Joint Marketing Programme Agreement for 
payment to the BOA and BPA respectively (see note 26 for further information).

£20m has been provided for payment to the Department of Culture, Media and Sport (see note 27 for  
further information).

All other costs recognised during the period relate to the ongoing support costs associated with the dissolution of 
the Company.

6 months  
ended

31 March
2013

£’000

18 months  
ended

30 September
2012

£’000
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5 Auditor remuneration
The Company paid the following amounts to its auditor in respect of the audit of the financial statements and for 
other services provided to the Company. 

   
  
 

Audit of the financial statements 100 380

Other fees to auditor

   Other assurance services 340 1,021

Total 440 1,401

Other services provided include assurance related procedures performed in relation to grant and contract compliance.

6 Grant and funding receivable 
The table shows the recognition of grant funding receivable during the period.

   
  
  

Credited to revenue  3,737 140,238 

Credited to expenditure   73,021 808,288

Total grant income recognised 76,758 948,526
 
Total grant funding committed from the Public Sector funding package at the prior period end was £989m.  
Savings have been made in the current period as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

*£51m Ministry of Defence costs originally intended to be paid directly by the Home Office, less £5m police  
step-in costs paid by the Home Office originally intended to be paid by LOCOG. 

6 months ended
31 March

2013
£’000

6 months ended
31 March

2013
£’000

18 months ended
30 September

2012
£’000

18 months ended
30 September

2012
£’000

Grant Purpose Lifetime 
funding granted  

at 30 Sept  
2013 

£m

Funding 
granted  

in the  
period 

£m

Current 
period 

(saving)/
re-utilisation 

£m

Transfer  
of  

scope  
£m

Lifetime 
final cost 

at 31 
March 
2013 

£m

Lifetime 
final 
cost 
core 

scope 
£m

Lifetime 
final 

cost non 
core 

scope 
£m

Venue Security To support the Government in 
delivering its responsibilities for 
ensuring safe and secure 
Olympic and Paralympic venues.

444 – (85) 46* 405 – 405

Special purpose 
funding

Contribution to pay for, for example, 
additional work on venues and 
facilities on the Olympic Park and 
including £41m of additional funding 
to enable LOCOG to deliver the 
Government’s ambition for the 
opening and closing ceremonies.

224 12 2 – 238 36 202

Operational 
provisions

To support the Government in 
delivering its operational 
responsibilities including £79m for the 
management of the flow of spectators 
between transport hubs and the 
Olympic venues - known as ‘Last Mile’

132 11 (11) –- 132 – 132

Park Operations For the operation and security of 
the Olympic Park and venues 
between completion of construction 
and handover to legacy owners.

78 – (8) – 70 – 70

Paralympic 
funding 
obligation

For the Government obligation to fund 
50% of the incremental cost incurred in 
staging the Paralympic Games

111 3 – – 114 114 –

Total 989 26 (102) 46 959 150 809
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6 Grant and funding receivable (continued) 
In accordance with the grant receivable accounting policy this grant funding has been recognised to match the 
timing of the costs incurred and credited to expenditure if the grant is considered to expand the original scope of 
the company. Core scope funding has been recognised within income.

Grants credited to revenue
£150m of the £959m lifetime public sector grant funding is considered LOCOG core scope, comprising £36m 
Special purpose funding and £114m Paralympic funding. Funding credited to revenue in the current period, includes 
£3.7m (2012: £104.1m) in relation to the Government Paralympic obligation and £nil (2012: £36.1m) to fund 
costs incurred for relocation and reconfiguration of venues (recognised in ‘Other contributions and scope transfers’ in 
note 3). As at period end, the grant had been fully drawn down and £150m recognised in income over the lifetime 
of the Company. 

Grants credited to expenditure
£809m of the £959m lifetime public sector grant funding is considered to expand the original scope of the 
Company. As at the period end, £809m had been drawn down from these grants and fully recognised as a credit 
against expenditure over the lifetime of the Company. £70.4m (2012: £730.1m) has been recognised in the 
current period. £14.0m remained outstanding at period end. 

Further grant funding credited against expenditure over the lifetime of the Company includes £56.5m received  for 
additional transport scope and joint communications operations from the ODA. As at period end, a total of £56.5m 
had been drawn down from the ODA grant of which £2.5m remained receivable , £nil (2012: £55.7m) was 
recognised in the current period. The ODA made £59.1m of grant funding available for scope delivered by LOCOG 
on behalf of the organisation of which £56.5m was required.

£31.3m has also been received for other grant income over the lifetime of the Company relating to a number 
of cultural and education programmes. £2.7m (2012: £22.5m) was recognised during the period and £nil was 
outstanding at period end. 

Grants received during the period are conditional on the funds being used towards achieving the purpose as 
specified in the individual Grant Agreement. Commitments and contingencies relating to Grant funding are disclosed 
in note 27. £20m has been provided as payable to DCMS under contractual obligations arising from grant 
agreements in note 27.

7 Staff costs and Directors’ emoluments 

  
  

   

(a) Staff costs

Wages and salaries 8,244 152,104

Social security costs 779 17,823

Pension costs 438 8,053

  9,461 177,980

The average monthly number of employees during the period was made up as follows: 
 
 

   
   

Operations 83 1,338

Finance & administration 65 346

Sales & marketing 21 259

  169 1,943

Total number of employees at 31 March 2013 was 47 (30 September 2012: 595). During the period, total 
workforce peaked at 439 in October 2012 and declined each month as the Company wound down. Workforce is 
anticipated to be nil by 30 June 2013.

6 months ended
31 March

2013
£’000

18 months  
ended

30 September
2012

£’000

6 months ended
31 March

2013

18 months  
ended

30 September
2012



46

Notes to the financial statements

7 Staff costs and Directors’ emoluments (continued)

 
 

   

(b) Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration1    486 2,173 

Total    486 2,173

1Directors’ emoluments include fees to Non-executive Directors amounting to £0.2m (30 September 2012: £0.8m) 
and amounts paid to third parties in respect of Directors’ services of £0.1m (30 September 2012: £0.4m).  
Since 1 January 2008 the secondment fee in respect of the services of Neil Wood has been paid to Deloitte LLP, a 
tier two sponsor of the Company.

No Directors were members of the defined contribution pension scheme (30 September 2012: nil).

The remuneration earned by Directors is shown below (payments include amounts payable for the period from  
1 October 2012 – 31 March 2013 and in accordance with the basis of preparation in note 2, amounts payable 
through to the liquidation of the Company):

1Lord Deighton’s contract of employment ceased on 31 December 2012 and there was no increase in his basic 
pay during the period. In addition to basic pay, Lord Deighton received £55,031 of annual incentive award in 
recognition of his performance during the period.
2Lord Coe’s basic pay decreased during the period due to a  reduction in his working hours for the Company 
reflecting the decline in number of employees throughout the period as the Company ceased to be operational.

6 months ended
31 March

2013
£’000

18 months ended
30 September

2012
£’000

Basic salary  
and fees 

(1 October 2012 -  
31 March 2013)

Total including  
bonus 

(1 October 2012 -  
31 March 2013) 

Total 2012  
(1 April 2011 -  
30 September  

2012)

£ £ £

Executive Directors:

Lord Deighton1 123,838 178,869 1,049,992

Neil Wood 130,000 130,000 390,000

Non-executive Directors:

Lord Coe2 123,577 123,577 535,500

Sir Keith Mills 16,000 16,000 75,000

HRH The Princess Royal 2,000 2,000 6,000

Sir Charles Allen 2,000 2,000 9,000

Dr Muhammad Abdul Bari 2,000 2,000 8,000

Sir Philip Craven 2,000 2,000 8,000

Jonathan Edwards 2,000 2,000 7,000

Lord Hall - - 6,000

Andrew Hunt 1,000 1,000 7,000

Justin King 5,000 5,000 13,000

Stephen Lovegrove - - -

Lord Moynihan - - 6,000

Adam Pengilly - - 7,000

Timothy Reddish 2,000 2,000 8,000

Sir Craig Reedie 4,000 4,000 15,000

Martin Stewart 5,500 5,500 15,500

Sir Robin Wales 3,000 3,000 7,000

Total 423,915 478,946 2,172,992
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7 Staff costs and Directors’ emoluments (continued) 
Long term incentive plan amounts earned in the period relate to the remaining £0.1m (18 months ended 30 
September 2012: £1.4m) earned under the Chief Executive long term pot which was subject to the maximum 
multiplier of two following the successful delivery of the Games. Details regarding performance assessment, 
previous payouts and operation are set out on pages 92 to 102 of the Company’s report for the 18 month period 
ended 30 September 2012. No further amounts are payable.

The highest paid director during the current and prior period was Lord Deighton.  

8 Finance revenue

 
   
  
  

Bank interest receivable 594 11,205

Total finance revenue 594 11,205

9 Finance costs 
 
 
   

   

Bank loans and overdrafts 111 688

Finance charges payable under finance leases    12 651

Total finance costs 123 1,339
 
10 Property, plant and equipment 

   Fixtures Information
 Leasehold and Technology –
 improvements equipment Hardware Vehicles Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 April 2011 6,705 2,585 12,591 6 21,887

Additions – 30,436 23,352 – 53,788

Disposals  (553) (2,262) (7,161) – (9,976) 

Reclassified as held for sale – (30,759) (28,782) (6) (59,547)

At 30 September 2012 6,152 – – – 6,152

Additions – – – – –

Disposals (6,152) – – – (6,152)

Reclassified as held for sale – – – – –

At 31 March 2013 – – – – –

Depreciation

At 1 April 2011 (3,987) (1,117) (5,628) (2) (10,734)

Charged during the period (2,397) (25,699) (25,768) (3) (53,867)

Disposals 553 2,262 7,161 – 9,976

Reclassified as held for sale – 24,554 24,235 5 48,794

At 30 September 2012 (5,831) – – – (5,831)

Charged during the period (321) – – – (321)

Disposals 6,152 – – – 6,152

Reclassified as held for sale – – – – –

At 31 March 2013 – – – – –

Net book value at 31 March 2013 – – – – –

Net book value at 30 September 2012 321 – – – 321

6 months  
ended

31 March
2013

£’000

18 months  
ended

30 September
2012

£’000

6 months  
ended

31 March
2013

£’000

18 months  
ended

30 September
2012

£’000
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10 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

Assets held for sale

Fixtures and equipment     – 6,205

Information Technology    – 4,547

Vehicles    – 1

Total assets held for sale    – 10,753

Management sold all material assets held by the Company during the period. Property, plant and equipment was 
written down to net realisible value of £8.5m during the period and sales totalled £8.5m (2012: £2.5m). 

11 Intangible assets
 Software  Trademarks* Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 April 2011   11,180 29,736 40,916

Additions   1,768 105 1,873

Disposals   (3,699) – (3,699)

At 30 September 2012   9,249 29,841 39,090

Additions   – – –

Disposals   (9,249) (29,841) (39,090)

At 31 March 2013   – – –

Amortisation

At 1 April 2011   (6,552) (21,370) (27,922)

Amortised during the period   (5,091) (7,206) (12,297)

Disposals   3,699 – 3,699 

At 30 September 2012   (7,944) (28,576) (36,520)

Amortised during the period (1,305) (1,265) (2,570) 

Disposals 9,249 29,841 39,090

At 31 March 2013 – – –

Net book value at 31 March 2013 – – – 

Net book value at 30 September 2012 1,305 1,265 2,570

*The Company entered into agreements with the BOA and BPA to acquire the rights to certain trademarks until  
31 December 2012. The related lease obligation was recorded in obligations under leases (see note 20).   

Assets held under finance leases 
The carrying value of trademarks held under finance leases as at 31 March 2013 was £nil (30 September 
2012: £1.3m).   

12 Investments in joint ventures
Details of the Company’s joint ventures at 31 March 2013: 

 Place of  Proportion of Proportion of
 incorporation ownership interest voting power held

Team 2012 Limited UK 25% 25%

Team 2012 Limited, a company limited by guarantee, is a joint venture equally owned by LOCOG, British Olympic 
Association (BOA), British Paralympic Association (BPA) and UK Sport.  Team 2012 Limited’s primary activities are 
fund raising and project management through receipt of donations and sponsorship. The BOA, BPA and LOCOG 
receive payments from Team 2012 Limited under a licence agreement.

On inception the investment was carried at a cost of £nil as Team 2012 Limited is a company limited by guarantee, 
has no share capital and LOCOG paid £nil consideration for its share ownership in the joint venture. LOCOG received 
£2.9m (2012: £1.5m) in licence fees from Team 2012 Ltd during the period which is recognised in revenue. £7.4m has 
been received by LOCOG over the lifetime of the joint venture all of which has been donated to UK Sport. 

No profit or loss has been recognised by LOCOG for the period ended 31 March 2013 as Team 2012 Limited is 
expected to enter into liquidation shortly after the period end with £nil expected to paid to the guarantors.

Notes to the financial statements

31 March
2013 

£’000

30 September
2012 

£’000
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13 Financial assets
 
 

  

Financial assets 

Forward exchange contracts – 1,184

Total receivables – 1,184

  All financial instruments that matured during the current period and have been recognised in the income and  
expenditure account.  All forward exchange contracts were classified as fair value through profit and loss during 
the current period. 
 

14 Trade and other receivables 
 

  
  

Trade receivables     12,504 71,477

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts     (1,977) –

Total receivables    10,527 71,477

Trade receivables 10,527 71,477

Prepayments – 3,813

Accrued revenue 2,814 370,699

Other receivables 40,423 50,018

Total 53,764 496,007

The trade receivables held by the Company at the period end denominated in Sterling amounted to £11.8m (30 
September 2012: £67.7m). £ 0.7m (30 September 2012: £3.8m) were denominated in US Dollars.
 
Included within other receivables is the net asset of the Employee Benefit Trust of £nil (30 September 2012: £nil). 
This is the trust asset of £1.1m (30 September 2012: £6.6m) net of the provision for expected future pay out of 
£1.1m (30 September 2012: £6.6m) based on current employee profile (see note 23).
 
Other receivables include £24.4m VAT receivable and £16.5m for grant funding receivable.
 
At 31 March 2013, £2.0m trade receivables (30 September 2012: £nil) were impaired and fully provided for. 
All other receivables are determined to be fully recoverable as at 30 September 2012 and 31 March 2013 and 
the Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receivables approximates to their fair value.

At as period end, the analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

  Neither past
  due nor     Past due
 Total impaired 0–30 days 30–60 days 60–90 days  90–120 days >120 days 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2013 12,504 3,868 516 957 4,310 204 2,649

2012 71,477 68,220 2,385 150 12 540 170
 
Actual credit terms determine that debtors must pay within 20 to 30 days. The credit quality of the trade 
receivables is assessed on a case by case view by reference to historical and publicly available information.

Debtors fully provided for in the current period are all over 90 days past due. 

Notes to the financial statements

31 March
2013
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15 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
 

  

Cash at bank and in hand    15,366 17,120

Total     15,366 17,120

Cash deposits – 205,000

Total – 205,000

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amount of these assets 
approximates to their fair value. £0.2m (30 September 2012: £0.9m) of the period end balance is denominated in 
foreign currency.

The Company deposited cash surpluses with Lloyds Bank plc exclusively pursuant to the sponsorship agreement. 
£205m held on deposit at 30 September 2012 matured during the period. 

£1.3m (30 September 2012: £1.0m) is held at year end in a designated bank account relating to royalties received 
from the National Lottery. In accordance with the agreement with the National Lottery and agreed with the IOC,  
as the Company did not require this income to meet its costs, this will be made available for the benefit of sport in 
the UK.

16 Trade and other payables 
 
 
  

   

Current

Trade payables and accruals  41,395 625,741

Other payables 106 5,150

Total 41,501 630,891

Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The 
average credit period taken for trade purchases is 49 days (2012: 50 days). The Directors consider that the carrying 
amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

Trade payables and accruals include amounts payable to the BOA of £5.3m ($8m) and BPA of £2.6m ($4m) pursuant to 
Joint Marketing Programme Agreements with both parties (see note 26). 

Other payables include PAYE and national insurance payable.

17 Provisions
 
  £’000

At 30 September 2012 295 – – 295

Increase in provisions 145 7,189 20,000 27,334

At 31 March 2013 440 7,189 20,000 27,629

Provisions represents management’s best estimate of amounts required for settlement of obligations as a result of 
past or future events. This includes all estimated costs for the liquidation of the Company and resolution of any 
disputed contracts.

£20m has been provided as payable to DCMS under contractual obligatories arising from grant agreements (see 
note 27).  

Notes to the financial statements
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18 Financial liabilities  
 
 

  
  

Unsecured borrowing 

Bank loan and accrued interest    – 75,000

Finance lease (see note 20)    – 1,370

Forward exchange contracts    – 325

Commodity contracts    – 87

Total financial liabilities      76,782

Amount due for settlement within 12 months    – 76,782

Amount due for settlement after 12 months    – –

Total financial liabilities    – 76,782

Borrowing facilities 
During the period, the Company held a Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) of £75m; this was repaid during the period 
following receipt of cash held on deposit. The individual loan notes matured based on specific terms for each loan 
note, with the facility being withdrawn on 31 March 2013.Following the period end, a reduced RCF of £10m 
was made available to the Company until 30th April 2013 and then £5m until 31 May 2013. The Company 
does not expect to draw down on this facility. 

All forward exchange contracts were classified as fair value through profit and loss during the current period

19 Deferred income 
 

  

  

Deferred income to be recognised in less than one year    – 77,822

Total deferred income    – 77,822

Deferred revenue represented consideration received or receivable but not yet recognised in line with the 
accounting policy. Local and worldwide sponsorship contracts expired on 31 December 2012 and no further 
income is expected.  

Notes to the financial statements
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20 Obligations under finance leases
The Company entered into finance lease agreements with the BOA and BPA under which it will pay for the rights 
to certain trademarks over the period 1 October 2005 to 31 December 2012. Furthermore, in the prior period 
the Company entered into finance lease agreements for the sale and leaseback of tangible assets. Agreements for 
trademarks expired and all tangible assets held under finance lease were returned to the lessor during the period. 
Future minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows: 
 

  

  

Future minimum payments due:

Within one year – 1,382

Less: future finance charges  – (12)

Present value of lease obligations – 1,370

Ageing profile of lease obligation

Amounts due for settlement within 12 months     – 1,370

    – 1,370

All lease obligations are denominated in Sterling. The fair value of the Company’s lease obligations approximates 
their carrying amount. Payments made during the current period to the BOA and BPA are disclosed in note 30. 

21 Operating lease arrangements 
During the lifetime of the Company, LOCOG entered into commercial leases for its offices and warehouses.  The 
office leases had an average duration of between three and six years and the warehouse leases had an average 
duration of two years. Ongoing lease arrangements do not incur any future obligations following the period end.  

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 
 

  
  

Within one year    – 945

    – 945

 
 

 
 

31 March
2013

£’000

 
 

30 September
2012

£’000

 
 

31 March
2013

£’000

 
 

30 September
2012
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22 Financial instruments
The Company received a significant portion of its revenues in foreign currencies. As such, LOCOG established a 
policy of entering into foreign currency derivative financial instruments to protect the Company against exchange 
rate fluctuations and to provide certainty over Sterling income.

In implementing this policy, the Company has used financial instruments commonly used for hedging purposes 
which are structured to provide the economic hedge desired. 

At the period end, the Company had no future financial instruments outstanding.

Maturity risk profile of financial assets and liabilities
The profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Company is as follows.  These values represent 
undiscounted amounts.

6 month period ended 31 March 2013
    Within 1 year 1–2 years Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000

Floating rate

Cash    15,366 – 15,366

Fixed rate

Trade and other receivables   53,764 – 53,764

Trade and other payables   41,501 – 41,501

18 month period ended 30 September 2012
    Within 1 year 1–2 years Total
    £’000 £’000 £’000

Floating rate     

Cash    17,120 – 17,120

Short-term cash deposits   205,000 – 205,000

Loan   (75,000) – (75,000)

Fixed rate     

Trade and other receivables   121,495 – 121,495

Trade and other payables   (630,891) – (630,891)

Finance lease liabilities   (1,370) – (1,370)

Forward exchange contracts (assets)

Gross outflow   (30,965) – (30,965)

Gross inflow   32,149 – 32,149

Forward exchange contracts (liabilities)

Gross outflow   (4,309) – (4,309)

Gross inflow   3,984 – 3,984

Trade and other receivables are disclosed at amortised cost.

Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which built an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Company’s short, medium and long-term funding 
and liquidity management requirements. The Company has managed liquidity risk by maintaining adequate sources 
of funding by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.

During the period, the Company held a Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) of £75m available until 31 March 2013 
that carried an interest rate 0.125 per cent above LIBOR. Following the period end, the Company held an a RCF of 
£10m available until 30 April 2013 and then £5m until 31 May 2013 with the same interest rate.
   
At 31 March 2013, £nil was drawn under the facility, therefore the Company had available £10m (30 September 
2012: £ nil) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.
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22 Financial instruments (continued)
Capital risk management
The Company manages its capital to ensure that sufficient funds are available to make budgeted payments whilst 
maximising use of surplus income through long term deposits.
    
The capital structure of the Company consists of cash, debt and equity. Equity comprises reserves and retained earnings 
as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity.   The Company has drawn down on the revolving credit facility 
during the current period for working capital purposes to maximise interest earned from long term cash deposits.

The Company will continue to manage the remaining cash, receivables and payables through to solvent liquidation 
anticipated to be on or about 30 May 2013.

Interest risk 
The Company has not been significantly exposed to interest rate risks during the current period in the United 
Kingdom. Market interest rate fluctuations are not expected to have a material effect on the result in future periods.

Foreign currency risk 
Movements in fair value of those derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are 
recognised in the income and expenditure account immediately. The results for the period would therefore be 
impacted by currency movements due to the associated changes in the fair value of the derivative financial 
instruments, although this has no impact on the cash flow in the current period. For those derivative financial 
instruments that qualify as cash flow hedges the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the income and 
expenditure account. The effect on other comprehensive income in the period ended 31 March 2013 was £nil (30 
September 2012: £7.0m gain) and the effect on the profit for the period was £0.3m loss (30 September 2012: 
£14.1m loss). The loss is a result of net movement on non-expired fair valued instruments, reversals of fair value 
revaluations which have expired or been settled, and realised gains and losses on instruments which have expired or 
been settled. Market results are not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s results in future periods.
 
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
Details of the Company’s financial instruments are below. The book value approximates to fair value for all 
financial assets and liabilities. Fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are assessed on a monthly basis.

This table excludes short term receivables and payables where fair value approximates to book value.

 
 

  
  

Financial assets

Cash    15,366 17,120

Cash deposits    – 205,000

Embedded derivatives    – –

Forward exchange contracts    – 1,184

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:

Finance lease obligations    – 1,370

Loans    – 75,000

Forward exchange contracts    – 325

Commodities    – 87

 
 

31 March
2013

£’000

 
 

30 September
2012

£’000
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22 Financial instruments (continued) 
Credit risk
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Company. The maximum credit risk exposure 
relating to financial assets is represented by the carrying value as at the end of the reporting period.

The Company has established procedures to minimise the risk of default by trade debtors including detailed 
credit checks undertaken before a customer is accepted. Historically these procedures have proved effective in 
minimising the level of impaired and past due debtors. The bad and doubtful debt provision at the current period 
end relates to contractual negotiations rather than default due to the financial position of the other parties.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical 
areas typically large UK and overseas companies and governmental departments. Ongoing credit evaluation 
is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and customers are subject to due diligence 
procedures prior to entering into agreement.

Derivative financial instruments 
LOCOG has limited future foreign denominated cash flows and hence has insignificant future foreign currency 
exposure.

In implementing the foreign exchange policy the Company has used financial instruments commonly used for 
hedging purposes (accrual forward contracts, conditional forward contracts, cylinder hedges and forward 
contracts) which are structured to provide the economic hedge desired. However, due to the structure of some 
of these instruments and the inherent uncertainty over the timing of some of the cash flows, the majority of the 
instruments have not qualified for hedge accounting under IAS 39. As a result, IAS 39 requires that the movements 
in the fair value of these instruments (principally the difference between the Sterling value of the hedged foreign 
currency when calculated using the hedged rate and the value when calculated using the forward rate at the end 
of the reporting period) are recorded in the income and expenditure account. The Company has no outstanding 
financial derivative contracts on income at period end.

The Company does not enter into derivative financial instrument transactions for speculative trading purposes.
The following is a summary of matured forward contracts for the period ended 31 March 2013:

    
Maturity date Notional amount Contracted rate Actual rate

Income forward contracts 

(GBP:USD)

30 November 2012  $25.0m 1.6 1.6

7 December 2012 $6.4m 1.7 1.6

28 February 2013 $25.0m 1.6 1.6

 

Expenditure forward contracts 

(GBP:CHF)

26 November 2012  CFH0.5m 1.4 1.5

 
The gain or loss recognised in the income and expenditure account on the above expired forward contracts is the 
difference between the hedged rate and actual rate on the date of the transaction.

Notes to the financial statements
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23 Employee Benefit Trust 
The Company has established a defined benefit post-employment incentive scheme for the purpose of making one-
off payment to employees on completion of their employment contracts. The Company has made payments into a 
trust to meet its obligations in relation to these post-employment benefits.
 
The scheme pay-outs are determined by the estimated length of service and final salary of each employee. The 
value of the obligation recorded as at the balance sheet date is calculated based on the Projected Unit Credit 
Method and is management’s best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation. The 
Company is not applying the corridor method and as such all changes in the value of the liability are recorded in 
the income and expenditure account in the period incurred.
 
Contributions to the trust are determined by management at regular intervals based on the forecast obligation and
the asset value. No forecast of future interest has been made in determining the fair value of the scheme assets as
it is deemed immaterial. The fair value of the scheme assets reflects the payments made by LOCOG and interest
earned to date. The defined benefit obligation is wholly funded by the Company.

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations:

  
  

Liability brought forward at 30 September 2012    (6,600) (5,990)

Obligation arising in relation to current service    (553) (7,034)

Benefits paid    6,049 6,424

Liability carried forward at 31 March 2013    (1,104) (6,600)

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit assets: 
 

  

Asset brought forward at 30 September 2012    6,592 10,186

Contributions by the employer    557 2,500

Interest earned    4 330

Benefits paid    (6,049) (6,424)

Asset carried forward at 31 March 2013    1,104 6,592

An asset of £nil (30 September 2012: £nil) has been recorded in the balance sheet within current assets as at 31 
March 2013. This amount reflects the defined benefit obligation of £1.1m (30 September 2012: £6.6m) and scheme 
assets of £1.1m (30 September 2012: £6.6m). The current service cost of £0.5m (30 September 2012: £7.0m) 
has been recognised in the income and expenditure account as operating expenses. Interest received on the scheme 
assets of £nil (30 September 2012: £0.3m) has been recorded as finance revenue.

The scheme assets as at 31 March 2013 reflect the cash invested and interest earned by the Company from the bank 
and short term deposit accounts.

During the period ended 31 March 2013, £0.5m (30 September 2012: £7.0m) expense has been recognised in the 
income and expenditure account. No further gains or losses have been recognised.

The trust will be closed following the liquidation of the Company.

24 Company guarantee
The Company is limited by guarantee. It has three members (see note 25) that each guarantee to pay £1 in the event 
of the Company being wound up.

25 Ultimate controlling interest
The Company has three members who hold the controlling interest. The members are the Secretary of State for Culture, 
Olympics, Media and Sport, The Mayor of London and the British Olympic Association.
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26 Contingent liabilities 
If during its lifetime the Company generates income greater than US$815m from UK sponsorship, official 
suppliers and licensing it is required, as part of its contract to purchase trademarks from the BOA, BPA and British 
Paralympic Enterprises Limited (BPEL), to pay 5 per cent of any amount above this threshold to the BOA and 2.5 
per cent of any amount above this threshold to the BPA and BPEL.

This amount is to be calculated in USD, adjusting for exchange rates, discounting and inflation. The amount 
payable by the Company is capped at the lower of US$8m for the BOA and US$4m for the BPA and BPEL, or 
the amount that when distributed, would cause the Company to have a surplus of £nil. The determination of any 
‘surplus’ for this purpose is calculated prior to calculations of commitments in note 27.

As all conditions for the payment of this liability have now been met, a provision of US$8m (£5.3m) for the BOA 
and US$4m (£2.6m) for the BPA and BPEL has been included in these financial statements. 

LOCOG is involved in certain claims and litigation that arose in the normal course of business with its suppliers/ 
contractors for the reimbursement of costs of additional work and/or for additional costs because of changed 
conditions. Any settlement, payments or necessary accruals are reflected in the financial statements when 
management believes an outcome is reasonably determinable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

27 Commitments and guarantees
DCMS Grants
Under the relevant terms of the Grant Agreement signed in the prior period with the Department for Culture, 
Media and Sport (DCMS), up to £104 million was made available to LOCOG which will be repayable, after 
the payment of any amounts due to the BOA and BPA as per note 26, in the event of the Company’s revenues 
exceeding expenditures. Repayment is limited to the amount of the excess but before calculation and division of 
any surplus under the commitments of the Host City Contract.

Accordingly, after settling all liabilities including contingent liabilities disclosed in note 26, the Company has 
made a provision of £20m for this purpose which brings the cumulative retained earnings of LOCOG to £nil.

Host City Contract
Under the terms of the Host City Contract with the IOC the Company undertook the commitment to host the 
Olympic Games and Paralympic Games in 2012. The contract sets the detailed commitments for the host city.

In accordance with the Host City Contract, in the event of a surplus at the conclusion of the 2012 Games, the 
surplus will be divided as follows:

 – 20 per cent to the BOA
 – 20 per cent to the IOC
 – 60 per cent to the Company to be used for the general benefit of sport in the UK, as may be determined by  

the Company in consultation with the BOA.

After meeting its contractual obligations to pay contingent liabilities as described in note 26 and to the DCMS 
noted above, the cumulative retained earnings of LOCOG is £nil and therefore no surplus is available for 
distributions under the Host City Contract.

Royalty payments
The Host City Contract stipulates the Company is committed to providing to the IOC a 3 per cent share of revenue 
earned on the retail price of Olympic coin and banknote programmes.

The Host City Contract also requires the Company to pay to the IOC:

 – 7.5 per cent of the value of the cash consideration of all contracts pertaining to the Joint Marketing Programme 
and ticket sales;

 – 5 per cent of the value of the consideration of all contracts which provide for the value in kind pertaining to  
the Joint Marketing Programme.
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27 Commitments and guarantees (continued) 
The final royalty payment for the IOC of £1.3m (30 September 2012: £18.2m) has been accrued at the current 
period end. Following this payment, no further liabilities will be outstanding in relation to this commitment. 

Ultimate guarantor
As set out by a letter of guarantee to the IOC dated 9 November 2004 and signed by the then Prime Minister and 
a letter of guarantee to the IOC dated 10 November 2004 and signed by the then Chancellor of the Exchequer 
on behalf of the UK Government; the UK Government guarantee to provide all the necessary financial support to 
ensure a successful Games effectively acting as the ultimate guarantor of Olympic funding.

28 Events after the balance sheet date
Following the period end, LOCOG has continued to wind down the balance sheet and manage cash-flows and the 
members will place the Company into a solvent Members Voluntary Liquidation on or about 30 May 2013.  

29 Directors’ interests
Deloitte LLP was an official sponsor of the Company until all marketing rights ceased on 31 December 2012. As 
part of the sponsorship agreement, the Company receive services from Deloitte LLP on a VIK basis (this includes 
the services of Neil Wood). Neil Wood served as a Director of the Company and is also a Partner in Deloitte 
LLP. During the period ended 31 March 2013, the Company invoiced Deloitte LLP £0.3m (30 September 2012: 
£17.3m) for marketing rights and purchased £6.7m (30 September 2012: £21.8m) of services from Deloitte LLP, 
of which £0.1m (30 September 2012: £0.4m) related to Neil Wood’s services as Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company. Deloitte LLP contributed £2.0m to revenue (30 September 2012: £12.9m) representing cash of £nil  
(30 September 2012: £1.0m) and VIK of £2.0m (30 September 2012: £11.9m). As at 31 March 2013 there 
was £0.4m (30 September 2012: £2.2m) owing to Deloitte LLP, and the value of the deferred income was £nil  
(30 September 2012: £2.1m).

Justin King is a Non-executive Director of the Company and the Chief Executive of J Sainsbury plc (Sainsbury’s) an 
official sponsor of the Company until all marketing rights ceased on 31 December 2012. During the period ended 
31 March 2013, the Company invoiced £3.2m (30 September 2012: £6.8m) for marketing rights and made 
purchases of £0.1m from Sainsbury’s. Sainsbury’s contributed £1.1m to revenue (30 September 2012: £10.8m) 
representing cash of £1.1m (30 September 2012: £8.6m) and VIK of £nil (30 September 2012: £2.2m). As 
at 31 March 2013 there was £nil (30 September 2012: £0.1m) owed by Sainsbury’s and £nil (30 September 
2012: £0.9m) owed to Sainsbury’s. The value of the deferred income was £nil (30 September 2012: £1.3m 
accrued income).

Sir Craig Reedie and Jonathan Edwards are Non-executive Directors of the Company. They also provide services 
to the Company under consultancy agreements. In addition to the fees in respect of their Non-Executive duties, 
during the period, the Company paid £nil (30 September 2012: £18,000) and £10,000 (30 September 2012: 
£130,500) for consultancy services from Sir Craig Reedie and Jonathan Edwards respectively. No amounts were 
outstanding at the period end (30 September 2012: £nil).

Sir Keith Mills served as the Deputy Chairman of the Company during the period; he also is a Director of KEM 
Management Limited. Transactions between the Company and KEM Management Limited in the financial period 
amounted to £7,500 (30 September 2012: £54,000) for administrative services provided to the Company. As at 
31 March 2013 £nil (30 September 2012: £nil) owed to KEM Management Limited.
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30 Other related party transactions
During the period the Company entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other related 
parties.   Those transactions with directors are disclosed in note 29. Transactions entered into, and trading 
balances outstanding at 31 March 2013 with other related parties, are as follows:

 Sales transactions  Purchases from Amounts owed Amounts owed
 with related party related party by related party to related party

Related party  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

International Olympic Committee (IOC)

31 March 2013 41,573 8,603 6,877 1,303

30 September 2012 306,069 29,497 3,901 12,432

International Paralympic Committee (IPC)

31 March 2013 116 117 – –

30 September 2012  424 1,336 39 –

British Olympic Association (BOA)

31 March 2013 449 464 – 5,251

30 September 2012  10,289 11,247 16 90

British Paralympic Association (BPA)

31 March 2013 – – 267 2,626

30 September 2012  719 2,350 279 –

Team 2012 Limited

31 March 2013 2,905 – – –

30 September 2012  1,500 – – –

Greater London Authority (GLA)

31 March 2013 115 78 – –

30 September 2012 3,190 68 310 –

Olympic Delivery Authority (ODA)

31 March 2013 5,028 25,273 4,279 5,311

30 September 2012  31,839 79,109 1,019 7,673

Department for Culture Media and Sport (DCMS)  

31 March 2013 – 66 – 66

30 September 2012  738 76 98 –

London 2012 Ceremonies Limited

31 March 2013 – 4,664 – –

30 September 2012  – 89,433 – –

London Legacy Development Corporation

31 March 2013 10 8,657 12 8,513

30 September 2012  – – – –

 Nature and description of related parties
Under the Host City Contract with the IOC and IPC the Company undertook the commitment to host the Olympic Games 
and Paralympic Games in 2012. Sir Philip Craven, Her Royal Highness The Princess Royal, Sir Craig Reedie and Adam 
Pengilly are Non-executive Directors of the Company and are also members of the IOC. Sir Philip Craven is also the 
President of the IPC. Receipts from the IOC during the period include agreed contributions under the Host City Contract 
for the staging of the Games and sponsorship fees in relation to the IOC worldwide sponsorship programme (recognised 
as revenue in the prior period). Payments relate to royalties payable under the Host City Contract (see note 27) and 
management fees payable for the worldwide sponsorship programme. £15.4m income (2012: £98.9m) has been 
recognised in the income and expenditure account for the worldwide sponsorship programme in the current period.

The British Olympic Association is one of the three members holding an interest in the Company. During the six month 
period, seven Non-executive Directors of the Company held positions at the BOA. Lord Moynihan served as Chairman, 
Andrew Hunt served as Chief Executive, Her Royal Highness The Princess Royal is the President and Adam Pengilly, 
Sir Craig Reedie and Sir Philip Craven are Non-executive Directors. Furthermore, Lord Coe was made Chairman of 
the BOA in November 2012.  The Company had an agreement with the BOA for the use of trademarks owned by the 
BOA which expired on 31 December 2012. As at 31 March 2013, the present value of the liability due under this 
agreement is £nil (30 September 2012: £1.0m). During the period the Company made cash payments of £nil (2012: 
£5.8m) and VIK payments of £0.5m (2012: £4.4m). Interest of £nil (2012: £0.5m) was charged to the income and 
expenditure account. Payments outstanding at period end relate to liabilities described in note 26.
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30. Other related party transactions (continued)
Nature and description of related parties 
During the six month period, Tim Reddish was a Non-executive Director of the Company; he is also the Chairman 
of the British Paralympic Association. The Company had an agreement with the BPA for use of trademarks owned 
by the BPA which expired on 31 December 2012. As at 31 March 2013 the present value of the liability due 
under this agreement is £nil (30 September 2012: £0.1m). During the period cash payments made in relation to 
the agreement were £0.1m (30 September 2012: £2.4m) and interest of £nil (2012: £0.1m) was charged to the 
income and expenditure account. Payments outstanding at period end relate to liabilities described in note 26.

Consistent with the Company’s policies for identifying and managing potential conflicts of interest, none of the 
directors holding a position with the BOA or BPA (“interested person”) has participated in the detailed reviews and 
determinations of the Company’s financial position concerning its ability to satisfy contingent liabilities to the BOA 
and BPA arising under the Joint Marketing Programme Agreements.  These reviews and determinations have been 
overseen by the ARD Committee.  The Chairman is not a member of the ARD Committee.  Sir Craig Reedie has 
recused himself from any meetings of the ARD Committee at which these reviews and determinations have taken 
place and has therefore not attended a meeting of the ARD Committee since January 2013.

Team 2012 Limited is a joint-venture owned jointly by LOCOG, BOA, BPA and UK Sport, the relationship is further 
explained in note 12. Receipts from Team 2012 Limited relate to licence fees receivable under the joint-venture 
agreement, for the use of trademarks owned by LOCOG.

The Greater London Authority (GLA) as part of the office of The Mayor of London is one of the three members 
holding an interest in the Company. Amounts receivable during the period relate to a joint funding arrangement for 
the post Games Athletes parade. Amounts payable to the GLA during the period relate to agreed funding for specific 
joint London 2012 projects.

The London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC) as a mayoral corporation is the body responsible for the long-term 
planning, development, management and maintenance of the Olympic Park and its facilities following the handover of 
the Olympic Park in November 2012. During the period, the LLDC invoiced LOCOG £4.6m (2012: £nil) for on Park 
dilapidations and £3.9m relating to the transfer of security employees from G4S to the LLDC.

The ODA is a non-departmental public body, overseen by the Department for Culture, Media and Sport, one of the 
three members holding an interest in the Company. The ODA has been primarily responsible for the delivery of new 
venues and infrastructure for the Games. The two organisations are separate legal entities, are separately funded and 
have separate and distinct governance arrangements. The Company and the ODA were co-located until November 
2012 and have a cost-sharing agreement for the use of premises under lease to LOCOG for which £0.2m was 
invoiced during the period (2012: £2.5m).

As part of the operational delivery of the Games, LOCOG and ODA identified and agreed certain deliverables from 
their original scope that the other entity was better placed to complete. A contribution was paid to cover the cost of 
each scope transfer. During the period, LOCOG invoiced the ODA £4.5m (2012: £29.1) for additional venues and 
infrastructure costs incurred on behalf of the ODA. ODA invoiced LOCOG £15.4m (2012: £44.7m) for costs incurred 
on behalf of LOCOG. Furthermore, LOCOG were invoiced £3.9m (2012: £nil) for venue and village dilapidations. 

Over and above the amounts invoiced to and purchased from the ODA, the organisation made available £59.1m of 
grant funding to LOCOG for additional transport scope and joint communications operations of which only £56.5m 
was required. As at the period end, £56.5m had been drawn down from these grants and £56.5m recognised as a 
credit against expenditure with £2.5m remaining receivable. 

The Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS), is one of the three members holding an interest in the 
Company. The Government Olympic Executive (GOE) was set up within DCMS to ensure the Games were delivered 
on time and on budget, to the benefit of the whole of the UK. Over and above the amounts invoiced to DCMS, the 
department has made available £488m grant funding to LOCOG.  As at the period end, £488m had been drawn 
down from these grants; £440m was recognised as a credit against expenditure and £48m recognised within 
revenue with £8m remaining receivable. 

On 1 October 2012, LOCOG acquired London 2012 Ceremonies Limited (‘L2012C’)as a wholly owned subsidiary 
following a share transfer from Flow Productions Limited for nil consideration. LOCOG acquired assets of £12.6m and 
liabilities of £12.6m. L2012C was responsible for the production of the major ceremonies of the London 2012 Olympic 
and Paralympic Games. Payments in the period relate to final payments due to L2012C for the design, creation, 
management of the Ceremonies and dissolution of L201C under the Ceremonies Production Agreement. London 2012 
Ceremonies Limited entered into solvent Members Voluntary Liquidation on 29 January 2013. LOCOG made £nil profit 
from the agreement
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